
 

 

 
 
 
 
A Meeting of an INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
DECISION will be held in First Floor 11 - Civic Offices, 
Shute End, Wokingham RG40 1BN on WEDNESDAY 16 
NOVEMBER 2022 AT 9.00 AM 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 8 November 2022 
 
 
Note: Non-Committee Members and members of the public  
are welcome to attend the meeting or participate in the  
meeting virtually, in line with the Council’s Constitution. If  
you wish to participate either in person or virtually via  
Microsoft Teams please contact Democratic Services. The  
meeting can also be watched live using the following link: 
https://youtu.be/uw05x6QuHSY  
 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control.

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/uw05x6QuHSY


 

 

 
 

Our Vision 
 

A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 
 

 
Enriching Lives 

• Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 
potential, regardless of their background.  

• Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 
complement an active lifestyle.  

• Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which 
people feel part of.  

• Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 
Safe, Strong, Communities 

• Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 
• Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.  
• Nurture communities and help them to thrive. 
• Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.  

A Clean and Green Borough 
• Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.  
• Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas. 
• Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling. 
• Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Right Homes, Right Places 
• Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  
• Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to 

grow.  
• Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  
• Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.  

Keeping the Borough Moving 
• Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  
• Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.  
• Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure. 
• Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible 

public transport with good network links.  
Changing the Way We Work for You 

• Be relentlessly customer focussed. 
• Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 

you.  
• Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately 

as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  
• Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 

customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  
 



 

 

For consideration by 
 
Clive Jones, Leader of the Council 
 
Officers Present 
Ben Davis, Planning Policy Officer 
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist 
 
 

IMD NO. WARD SUBJECT  
    
IMD 2022/16 Twyford WBC RESPONSE TO TWYFORD 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
 

5 - 32 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 
Callum Wernham Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist 
Email callum.wernham@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISION 
REFERENCE IMD: IMD 2022/16 

 
TITLE Wokingham Borough Council Response to 

Twyford draft Neighbourhood Plan Consultation 
  
DECISION TO BE MADE BY Leader of the Council - Clive Jones 
  
DATE, 
MEETING ROOM and TIME 

16 November 2022 
FF11 at 9am 

  
WARD Twyford; 
  
DIRECTOR / KEY OFFICER Director, Place and Growth - Steve Moore 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT (Inc Strategic Outcomes) 
 
To agree Wokingham Borough Council’s formal response to the Twyford draft 
Neighbourhood Plan (Regulation 16) consultation.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Leader of the Council agrees that Wokingham Borough Council submits the 
comments contained in Enclosure 1 as this Council’s response to the Twyford Draft 
Neighbourhood Plan: Submission Plan (August 2022).   
 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
Neighbourhood development plans (commonly referred to as neighbourhood plans) 
allow communities to help shape how development is managed in their area and work 
alongside strategic planning policies set out in the council’s local plans.   
 
Neighbourhood plans can set out more detailed policies and can also choose to allocate 
sites for development, however neighbourhood plans should not promote less 
development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, nor undermine those 
strategic policies1.  
 
Twyford Parish Council has prepared a neighbourhood plan covering the whole parish.  
The parish council has consulted residents and other interested parties on the scope 
and content of the plan.  
 
The parish council submitted the neighbourhood plan and supporting information to the 
council in August 2022.  Executive agreed, on 29th September 2022, that the 
neighbourhood plan could progress to consultation2. In line with the regulations 
governing the neighbourhood plan process, the council has publicised the plan for six 
weeks and invited representations on the plan’s content.  Consultation began on 
Wednesday 12th October 2022 and ends on Wednesday 23rd November 2022.   
 

 
1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021), paragraph 29 
2 Twyford Neighbourhood Development Plan – Regulation 16 Consultation and Future Examination, 
Examination Executive report, available at: 
https://wokingham.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60187/Twyford%20Neighbourhood%20Plan.pdf  

Page 5

Agenda Item IMD16

https://wokingham.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s60187/Twyford%20Neighbourhood%20Plan.pdf


 

 

In the same way as any other stakeholder, the consultation provides the council the 
opportunity to consider the plan and submit representations.  As set out in the 
recommendations to the Executive report, the council’s comments would be agreed 
through the Individual Executive Member Decision process, which is the purpose of this 
report.   
 
The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan contains policies on housing (including First Homes), 
climate change mitigation, the built, natural and historic environment, community 
facilities, retail centres and active travel and highways. The submission plan does not 
include any site allocations for development.   
 
In line with best practice, officers have regularly engaged with the parish council 
throughout the plan’s preparation.  Several of the matters raised by officers have been 
addressed through the submission plan but there remain a few issues to certain policy 
areas, where it is recommended the council responds to the consultation to bring them 
to the attention of the examiner through the examination process.  
 
The primary focus of the recommended response is to Policy TW10: Zero Carbon 
Buildings which introduces standards and requirements for improvements to energy 
efficiency and carbon emissions reduction that beyond current national and local 
planning policy.  The parish council’s ambition is recognised and laudable, however the 
planning system requires evidence to demonstrate that policy requirements and 
standards do not impact on the deliverability of development.   
 
No viability evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the policy requirements of 
the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan are deliverable and achievable in practice.  Neither is 
this evidence available at present from the council’s work on the new emerging Local 
Plan. 
 
In addition, there is a risk of conflict with strategic policy in the emerging Local Plan 
Update, if subsequent evidence supports an alternative approach.  In its current form, 
the policy is therefore considered not to meet the basic conditions, namely (a) having 
regard to national polices and advice, and (c) being in general conformity with the 
strategic policies contained in the council’s development plan.  Should the policy be 
retained, some amendments are suggested to the policy wording to reflect current best 
practice and national policy and guidance, in particular by encouraging development 
proposals (where feasible) to achieve the Future Homes Standards and/or Future 
Buildings Standards (or any equivalent standard).  The full response is contained in 
Enclosure 1.    
 
Representations are also recommended regarding Policy TW8 (Tree Canopy Cover), 
which is not considered to meet the basic conditions because, as currently proposed, it 
would constrain development, including opportunities for higher density development in 
appropriate areas in a manner not supported by national policy or strategic policies set 
out in the Core Strategy and Management Development Delivery local plan documents.  
Suggested amendments as set out in Enclosure 1 would help to provide a degree of 
flexibility in decision-making. 
 
Finally, minor modifications are recommended to policies TW2, TW4, TW6, TW9, and 
TW18 to either align with existing local and national policy and legislation or provide 
further clarity for decision takers.  
 

Page 6



 

 

The full recommended response is set out in Enclosure 1 to this report. 
 
 

 

Page 7



 

 

Background 
 
Neighbourhood development plans, more commonly referred to as neighbourhood 
plans, allow communities to help shape how development is managed in their area.  
Neighbourhood plans work alongside strategic planning policy set out in the council’s 
local plans.  They can set out more detailed policies for their area.  This can include 
allocating sites, the provision of infrastructure and community facilities at a local level, 
establishing design principles, conserving and enhancing the natural and historic 
environment and setting out other development management policies. 
 
Neighbourhood plans should not promote less development than set out in the strategic 
policies for the area or undermine those strategic policies3. 
 
Where a community wishes to take up the opportunities offered by a neighbourhood 
plan, legislation enables two types of organisations to lead it: 

• a parish or town council; or 
• a neighbourhood forum. 

 
Twyford Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Twyford Parish Council has prepared a neighbourhood plan covering their parish.  The 
parish council has worked with other members of the community who are interested or 
affected by the plan. 
 
The parish council has consulted residents and other interested parties on the scope 
and content of the neighbourhood plan.  Consultation methods and community 
engagement activities used when preparing the plan include (but were not limited to) a 
survey questionnaire to residents, public meetings, leaflet distribution to all households 
and businesses in Twyford parish, social media campaign and a dedicated page on the 
Twyford Parish Council website.  Further information is contained in the Consultation 
Statement and Appendices supporting the submitted Twyford Neighbourhood Plan.4   
 
Having prepared its neighbourhood plan, the parish council submitted the Plan and 
supporting documents to the council in August 2022.  Under the regulations governing 
the preparation of neighbourhood plans, the council is required to publicise the plan for 
a minimum of six weeks and invite representations to be made.  On 29 September 
2022, Executive agreed that the neighbourhood plan could progress to consultation.  
Consultation began on Wednesday 12th October 2022 and ends on Wednesday 23rd 
November 2022. 
 
The consultation provides the council with the opportunity to make representations on 
the neighbourhood plan’s content, including supporting or objecting to any specific 
policies or proposals.  As set out in the recommendations to the 29th September 2022 
Executive report, any comments are to be agreed through the Individual Executive 
Member Decision process, which is the purpose of this report. 
 
In responding to the consultation, the council can ensure the independent examiner fully 
considers those issues that may have implications when making decisions on planning 

 
3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021), paragraph 29 
4 Twyford Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement and Appendices (August 2022), available at: 
https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning-policy/planning-policy-information/neighbourhood-planning/  

Page 8

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning-policy/planning-policy-information/neighbourhood-planning/


 

 

applications.  These issues can then be appropriately addressed by an appointed 
examiner through the examination process. 
 
Business Case (including Analysis of Issues) 
 
Neighbourhood plans are required to be in general conformity with the strategic 
planning policies contained within the Local Plan.  Officers have regularly engaged with 
the parish council in accordance with the council’s legal duty to assist bodies preparing 
neighbourhood plans and in accordance with the council’s adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement.  Several of the matters raised by officers through this 
engagement have been addressed and reflected in the submitted neighbourhood plan, 
but there remain a few issues where it is recommended the council responds to the 
consultation to bring them to the attention and consideration of the examiner through 
the examination process.   
 
The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan contains policies on housing (including First Homes), 
climate change mitigation, the built, natural and historic environment, community 
facilities, retail centres and active travel and highways. The submission plan does not 
include any site allocations for development. 
 
As indicated in the report to Executive, the type of comments that the council would 
wish to make included identifying where supporting evidence to some policy areas is 
likely to be insufficient. 
 
In particular, Policy TW10 (Zero Carbon Buildings) of the draft Plan introduces 
standards and requirements for improvements to energy efficiency and carbon 
emissions reduction that are set beyond current national and local planning policy.  We 
would particularly point the qualifying body to the Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) 
(25 March 2015) which explains that ‘qualifying bodies preparing neighbourhood plans 
should not set in their emerging neighbourhood plans any additional local technical 
standards or requirements relating to the construction, internal layout or performance of 
new dwellings’ (our emphasis added), instead the WMS refers to these being contained 
in local plans.   
 
No viability evidence has been provided to justify the policy approach and therefore 
demonstrate that the policy requirements of the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan are 
deliverable and achievable in practice.  Neither is this evidence available at present 
from the council’s work on the new emerging Local Plan.  Useful guidance produced by 
Locality may be helpful in testing the viability of proposals in a neighbourhood plan.  
   
The full recommended response is set out in Enclosure 1 to this report.  The following is 
a summary of the recommended response to the key issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

 
Policy  Comment summary 
Policy TW1: 
Encouraging 
Sustainable 
Travel   

Support for the proposed policy and approach to encouraging 
sustainable travel in Twyford parish.  

Policy TW2: 
Sustainable 
Accessibility 
and Mobility   

Support for the proposed policy and approach. The policy could 
helpfully refer to supporting sustainable deliveries, for example by 
encouraging and supporting opportunities for secure communal 
parcel drop areas in Twyford village centre to reduce the number of 
delivery vehicles on the local highway network.   
   

Policy TW3: 
Twyford 
Railway 
Station  

Support for the proposed policy and approach.    

Policy TW4: A 
Thriving 
Village Centre  

Support for the proposed policy and approach to maintaining the 
viability and vitality of Twyford village centre.  However, further 
consideration should be given to how it would operate in conjunction 
with the local plan policies for retail centres.  
 
Policy CP13 of the Core Strategy (2010) and Policy TB15 of the 
Managing Development Delivery (MDD) local plan identifies a village 
centre boundary for Twyford which is larger than the boundary for 
Twyford village centre proposed in Policy TW4 of the Twyford 
Neighbourhood Plan and therefore may cause confusion for a 
decision-maker when applying the policy in practice.   
 

Policy TW5: 
Village Centre 
Regeneration 
Area   
 

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW6: 
Improving Air 
Quality  

Support for the proposed policy and approach. Suggested 
amendments to wording to provide a more flexible policy approach 
and improve clarity for the decision-maker.   
 

Policy TW7: 
Nature 
Recovery and 
Climate 
Change 

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW8: 
Tree Canopy 
Cover  

Concerns expressed regarding the evidence used to justify the policy 
requirements, (including achieving a minimum 25% canopy cover) 
and how the proposed approach is deliverable and achievable in 
practice, as per national planning policy and guidance.  The policy 
could helpfully benefit in introducing a degree of flexibility in its 
implementation.  For instance, the policy could set out certain 
circumstances where a lower canopy cover percentage may be more 
appropriate and justified, for example where a development proposal 
is situated in the village centre (where higher densities are 
encouraged) or the wider consideration of any landscape, townscape 

Page 10



 

 

and ecological impacts would be adversely impacted by full 
implementation. 

Policy TW9: 
Carbon 
Sequestration  

Support for the proposed policy and approach but would query 
whether the reference in the policy to the ‘Woodland Carbon Code’ 
should instead refer to the ‘UK Forest Standard’. It is noted by the 
council’s Ecology Officer that the ‘Woodland Carbon Code’ is a 
means to measure the quantity of carbon sequestered by woodland, 
rather than set out a specific standard for creating woodland.  

Policy TW10: 
Zero Carbon 
Buildings  

The ambition for the proposed policy approach is welcomed, however 
there is no clear justification provided for the specific policy 
requirements.  In particular, the policy seeks to introduce standards 
and requirements for improvements to energy efficiency and carbon 
emissions reduction that are set beyond current national and local 
planning policy which, in its current form, is not considered to meet 
the basic conditions. 
 
Some amendments are therefore suggested to the policy wording to 
reflect national policy and guidance and current best practice.  
 

Policy TW11: 
Water 
Infrastructure 
and Flood 
Risk  

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW12: 
New Homes  

Support for the proposed policy and approach, which is supported by 
locally specific evidence in the form of a Housing Needs Assessment. 
  

Policy TW13: 
First Homes  

Support for the proposed policy and approach but would question the 
appropriateness in relying on local plan viability evidence published in 
2008 to justify a minimum 50% discount from full open market value.  
  

Policy TW14: 
First Homes 
Exception 
Sites  

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW15: 
Design Codes  

Support for the proposed policy and approach, which is supported by 
locally specific evidence in the form of Design Guidelines and Codes.  
 

Policy TW16: 
Buildings of 
Traditional 
Local 
Character  

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW17: 
Twyford 
Community 
Hub (Old 
Polehampton 
School)  

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

Policy TW18: 
Community 
Facilities 

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  Minor amendments 
are suggested to the policy wording regarding the evidence that may 

Page 11



 

 

be required by applicants in order to demonstrate that the existing 
use is not viable.   
 

Policy TW19: 
Early Years 
Provision 

Support for the proposed policy and approach.  

 
Next Steps 
 
Once the consultation has closed, all representations and associated documents will be 
sent to an appointed examiner who will consider the plan. 
 
There is no prescribed timeframe in which an examination should take place.  The 
examiner will decide whether the examination takes place in the form of a public hearing 
or written representations.  
 
Where considered necessary, the examiner will recommend any amendments required 
for the plan to satisfy the basic conditions and will conclude whether or not the plan can 
proceed to a referendum. 
 
Following receipt of the examiner’s recommendations, the council will come to a formal 
view on whether the plan meets the basic conditions and, if so, will be responsible for 
arranging and undertaking the referendum.  
 
If more than half the votes cast support for the plan, the council must adopt it through a 
resolution of Council.  At this point it would become part of the statutory development 
plan, and so carry significant weight when making decisions on planning applications 
and appeals. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 
 How much will it 

Cost/ (Save) 
Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

Nil Yes Revenue 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

Nil Yes Revenue 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

Nil n/a n/a 

 
Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 
No financial implications arise as a result of this consultation exercise. However, the 
council is required to facilitate and fund both the examination and referendum 
processes.  Whilst costs are initially incurred, government grant may be applied for 
retrospectively that will compensate for the expenditure. 

 
 
 

Page 12



 

 

 
Cross-Council Implications  
No cross-council implications arise as a result of this consultation exercise.  However, if 
the plan progresses to referendum, the Council would be required to arrange the 
referendum.  This would be led by Electoral Services. 
 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
An Equalities Impact Screening Report was produced and published as an enclosure to 
the report for Executive on 29 September 2022. 
 

 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
Director – Resources and Assets No comments received. 
Monitoring Officer No comments received. 
Leader of the Council No comments received.  

 
List of Background Papers 
Enclosure 1: WBC Response 

 
Contact  Ben Davis Service  Delivery and Infrastructure 
Telephone No Tel: 0118 974 6217  Email  ben.davis@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

PART A: Contact Details 

Name: Ben Davis   

Are you responding as a: � Resident in Wokingham Borough 

� Resident outside the Borough 
 X                Local Authority 

� Statutory Body 

� Councillor / Clerk 

� Society / Community Group 

� Business / Agent 

� Landowner / Developer 

� Other interested party  
Please specify 
…………………………………………… 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Job title / role (if applicable): Planning Policy Officer 
 
 Responding on behalf of: N/A 

Organisation name (if applicable): Wokingham Borough Council 

Address: Wokingham Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Shute End 
Wokingham 
 

Postcode: RG40 1BN 
 

Email address: Ben.Davis@wokingham.gov.uk  

 If you would like to be notified of Wokingham Borough 
Council's decision whether to 'make' the Plan (to bring it 
into legal force), please tick the box below.  
 

Yes, please notify me       ☐ 

Page 15

mailto:Ben.Davis@wokingham.gov.uk


2 
 

All comments must be received by 5pm 23 November 2022 
 

 
PART B 
 
Please use as many or as few comments boxes as you wish. 
 
Comment 1 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW1: 
Encouraging 
Sustainable 
Travel   

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph? (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐  
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  
 
It is recommended that the Policies Map, which aids the interpretation of Policy TW1, should be updated to 
include the following amendments to provide additional clarity for the decision-maker:  
 

• The proposed Loddon Long Distance Path should be modified to reflect the route on the council’s 
latest Greenways plan, which is available to view and access on the website: 
https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=618819   

• Twyford Footpath 1, which is a key existing Public Rights of Way that runs over the railway line, should 
be included on the Policies Map (see below) 

• The routes shown through the Loddon Nature Reserve are currently depicted as ‘TW1: Sustainable 
Travel Network – Existing Network’, which according to the council’s Public Rights of Way Officer are 
not part of the existing network, and should be identified as ‘TW1: Sustainable Travel Network – 
Opportunities for Improvement’     

 
Additionally, it is recommended that Plan G on page 81 of the Plan should be amended to reflect the 
designations set out in the Policies Map.  Some of the routes currently identified on Plan G do not align with 
the Policies Map, and this could introduce some confusion among decision-makers during the policy’s 
implementation.  

 
 

Page 16

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=618819


3 
 

 
Comment 2 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW2: 
Sustainable 
Accessibility and 
Mobility  

 
Do you support,  support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☒ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  However, we suggest that the policy and/or supporting text 
could helpfully refer to supporting sustainable deliveries, for example by encouraging and supporting 
opportunities for secure communal parcel drop areas in Twyford village centre to reduce the number of 
delivery vehicles on the local highway network.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



4 
 

Comment 3 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW3: 
Twyford Railway 
Station  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



5 
 

Comment 4 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW4: A 
Thriving Village 
Centre  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☒ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the proposed policy and approach to maintaining the viability and vitality of 
Twyford village centre.  However, further consideration should be given to how the policy would interact and 
operate in conjunction with the local plan policies for retail centres.  
 
By way of context, Policy CP13 (Town centres and shopping) of the Core Strategy (2010) and Policy TB15 
(Major Town, and Small Town/District Centre development) of the Managing Development Delivery (MDD) 
local plan (2014) identifies a small / district centre for Twyford village.  The extent of the policy designation in 
the local plan is larger than the proposed area for Twyford village centre set out in Policy TW4 of the Twyford 
Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Should the policy be retained, we would suggest a revision to the boundary of the proposed designation to 
align with the existing designation in the Core Strategy and MDD local plans, to avoid conflict with strategic 
policy.  
 
Further, we would question whether the listed buildings and structures at Polehampton School House should 
be included within the village centre boundary.  
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



6 
 

Comment 5 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW5: 
Village Centre 
Regeneration 
Area  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



7 
 

Comment 6 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW6: 
Improving Air 
Quality  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☒ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  However, we suggest amendments to the policy to provide a 
more flexible approach, achieve general conformity with Policy CP1(8) of the adopted Core Strategy (2010) 
and the MDD local plan, and having regard to national policy, in particular paragraph 173 of the NPPF.  
 
An example has previously been cited in Policy KBR34 of the Knightsbridge Neighbourhood Plan (adopted 
December 2018), which is considered to introduce a more flexible policy approach for managing development 
proposals that may cause or contribute to air quality impacts.  
 
Taking this approach into account, we suggest the following amendments to criteria B of Policy TW6 which 
would help to improve the clarity and effectiveness of the policy for the decision-maker:  
 
‘Development proposals, where applicable, will be required to demonstrate should aim to be at least ‘Air 
Quality Neutral’ standards during both construction and operation to avoid and not cause causing or 
contributing contribute to worsening air quality, including in the Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management 
Area. Development proposals that would result in a significant increase in air pollution within or adjacent to 
the Twyford Crossroads Air Quality Management Area will only be justified in exceptional circumstances. This 
should be demonstrated through an air quality assessment, and if necessary, proposed mitigation measures.   
 
Developments proposals requiring a Travel Plan or Transport Assessment will also be required to submit an air 
quality assessment.’       
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comment 7 

Page 21



8 
 

To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW7: 
Nature Recovery 
and Climate 
Change 

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the principle of this policy.  

 

Page 22



9 
 

Comment 8 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW8: Tree 
Canopy Cover  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☒ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
  
The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan must have regard to national planning policies and advice.  Currently, Policy 
TW8 (Tree Canopy Cover) seeks to ensure that development proposals achieve a minimum 25% canopy cover.  
This policy requirement could have potential implications for any indicative site capacities, due to a possible 
reduction in the net developable area.  In addition, some higher density development could be acceptable 
within some areas of Twyford Parish.  Removing the opportunity for higher densities in appropriate areas 
would make less effective or efficient use of land and would reduce the quantum and variety of housing types 
to be able to respond to local needs, as sought in Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy (2010) and Policy TW12 
(New Homes) of the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
The policy, in its current form, would constrain development, including opportunities for higher density 
development in appropriate areas in a manner not supported by national policy or strategic policies set out in 
the Core Strategy and Managing Development Delivery local plan documents.  
 
The policy is therefore considered not to meet the basic conditions with respect to (a) having regard to 
national policies and advice and (e) general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 
development plan for the area of the authority.  
 
Should the policy be retained, we would suggest that it introduces a degree of flexibility by setting out certain 
circumstances where a lower canopy cover percentage may be more appropriate and justified.  For example, 
circumstances could refer to those development proposals that are situated in Twyford village centre where 
higher density development is encouraged but where its achievement might be impacted by full 
implementation, or where landscape, townscape and ecological sensitivities would be adversely impacted by 
full implementation.   
 

 
  

Page 23



10 
 

Comment 9 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW9: 
Carbon 
Sequestration  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☒ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the principle of this policy, but we would query whether the reference in the 
policy to the ‘Woodland Carbon Code’ should instead refer to the ‘UK Forest Standard’, as it has been noted by 
the council’s Ecology Officer that the ‘Woodland Carbon Code’ is a means to measure the quantity of carbon 
sequestered by woodland, rather than set out a specific standard for creating woodland. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



11 
 

Comment 10 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

 Policy Reference: Policy TW10: 
Zero Carbon 
Buildings  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☒ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The Twyford Neighbourhood Plan must have regard to national planning policies and advice and be in general 
conformity with the strategic policies contained in the council’s development plan.  
 
Policy TW10 (Zero Carbon Buildings) seeks to impose standards and requirements for energy efficiency 
improvements and carbon emissions reduction that are set beyond current national and local planning policy. 
Whilst the council continues to recognise the parish council’s ambition, the planning system does require the 
need to demonstrate that policy requirements and standards do not impact on deliverability.  
 
Requirements in Policy TW10 would seek to typically achieve 80% - 90% improvements in emissions over 
current Building Regulations Part L and is therefore set beyond national and local level policy.  Given the 
introduction of the interim Future Homes Standard in national policy and guidance, the requirements of Part L 
of Building Regulations ensure new homes built from 15 June 2022 (subject to transitional arrangements) 
produce 31% less carbon emissions compared to the 2013 standards.  Policy TW10 should therefore be 
updated to reflect current best practice.     
 
It is worth noting the outcome following an examination of the Rollesby Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035, in 
Great Yarmouth Borough, where the submitted plan sought to introduce energy efficiency standards at 20% 
above Building Regulations.  However, during the examination process, the examiner concluded in their final 
report (page 23) (dated 15 November 2021) that (emphasis added):  
 

‘The supporting text refers to the possibility of planning policies requiring energy efficiency standards 
20% above building regulations and refers to the Code for Sustainable Homes.  This is correct, the 
PPG does say that development plan policies can set energy performance standards at this level.  
However, this relates to local planning policies not qualifying bodies.  It refers to the Planning and 
Energy Act 2008 which allows local planning authorities to set energy efficiency standards in their 
development plan policies.  

 
The WMS, referred to above, explains that neighbourhood plans should not set out any additional 
local technical standards or requirements relating to the construction, internal layout or performance 
of new dwellings (our emphasis added), instead these must be contained in local plans.  This element 
then requires modification to ensure it has regard to national policy and guidance.  

 
Subject to these modifications, the policy will have regard to national policy, contribute to the   
achievement of sustainable development and be in general conformity with strategic policy.’  

 
For clarity, the examiner’s recommended modification to Policy HO2: Housing Mix of the Rollesby 
Neighbourhood Plan was as follows:  
 

• Change the fourth paragraph of the policy to read: New housing is encouraged to be designed to a 
high energy efficiency standard.” 

• Change the supporting text at paragraph 56 on page 14 of the Plan to read:  
 

Page 25



12 
 

“Planning practice guidance allows local planning authorities to require planning policies to require 
energy efficiency standards 20% above building regulations. This is encouraged to be used for Policy 
HO2 unless the guidance changes and more rigorous standards can be applied.” 

 
Further, it is acknowledged in the Twyford Neighbourhood Plan that this policy is to be applied in Twyford 
Parish in the interim and until such time that the Local Plan Update (LPU) is adopted.  WBC has commissioned 
further climate change evidence as part of the emerging LPU which will inform policy development moving 
forward.  Currently, the proposed requirements within the Draft LPU have not been subject to whole plan 
viability testing, and therefore there is a potential risk of conflict with strategic policy if the evidence does not 
justify a similar policy approach in the LPU.   
 
The policy, in its current form, is therefore considered not to meet the basic conditions, namely with respect to 
(a) having regard to national policies and advice, and (e) being in general conformity with the strategic 
policies contained in the council’s development plan.  
 
Should the policy be retained, we would suggest the following amendments to criteria (A) and (B) of Policy 
TW10, to align with national and local planning policy and be in general conformity with strategic policies of 
the council’s development plan:  
 

A. All development proposals  must  should aim to be ‘zero carbon ready’ by design to minimise the 
amount of energy needed to heat and cool buildings through landform, layout, building orientation, 
massing and landscaping.  Consideration should be given to resource efficiency at the outset and 
whether existing buildings can be re-used as part of the scheme to capture their embodied carbon.  
 

B. Wherever feasible, all buildings should be capable of achieving Future Homes Standards and/or 
Future Buildings Standards (or any equivalent standard).  In addition, buildings that achieve be 
certified to a Passivhaus (or equivalent standard) with a space heating demand of less than 
15KWh/m2/year will be viewed favourably.  Where schemes Development proposals that maximise 
their potential to meet this standard by proposing of terraced and/or apartment building forms of plot 
size, plot coverage and layout that are different to those of the character area within which the 
proposal is located, this will be supported, provided it can be demonstrated that the scheme will not 
have a significant harmful effect on the character area. 

 
We would recommend that the requirements related to the submission of a Whole Life Carbon Assessment (in 
criteria D) and Energy Statement (in criteria E), could helpfully be combined and their content incorporated 
within an overall Sustainability Statement.  As per the Council’s latest Local Validation List (June 2021) a 
Sustainability Statement is a useful and helpful approach in demonstrating the sustainability principles of 
development proposals, including showing the predicted energy demand of the proposed development and 
explaining the degree to which a development can meet current energy efficiency standards.  In addition to 
operational performance, the Sustainability Statement can also cover other wider sustainability factors, 
notably landscapes, biodiversity and sustainable travel and accessibility.  
 
We would also suggest amendments to criteria (D) of Policy TW10 as follows:  
 

D.    All planning applications for major Major development proposals are also required to be accompanied 
by a Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Assessment, having regard to any national guidance and 
current best practice using a recognised methodology, to demonstrate actions taken to reduce 
embodied carbon resulting from the construction and use of the building over its lifetime entire life.    

 
Should the policy be pursued, it would need to be supported by additional viability evidence to demonstrate 
that the policy requirements in the plan as a whole are achievable and deliverable in practice, as per 
paragraph 16(b) of the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
Finally, the requirement for ‘all planning permissions granted for new and refurbished buildings’ to provide a 
post occupancy evaluation (as proposed in criteria (C) of Policy TW10) and to be enforced via a planning 
condition is not likely to meet the necessary tests set out in Paragraph 55 of the NPPF as it would place 
unreasonable burdens on the developer/applicant.  Further, the introduction of this requirement would have 
significant resource implications for the Local Planning Authority.   

 

Page 26



13 
 

Comment 11 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW11: 
Water 
Infrastructure 
and Flood Risk  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the proposed policy and approach.  

 
Comment 12 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW12: 
New Homes  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the proposed policy and approach, which is supported by locally specific evidence in the 
form of a Housing Needs Assessment.  

 

Page 27



14 
 

Comment 13 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW13: 
First Homes   

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the proposed policy and approach, but we would question the appropriateness in 
relying on local plan viability evidence published in 2008 as justification for introducing a minimum 50% 
discount from full open market value.   
 
In addition, WBC has commissioned housing needs evidence as part of the emerging LPU which will inform 
policy development moving forward.  Currently, the proposed requirements within the Draft LPU have not been 
subject to whole plan viability testing, and therefore there is a potential risk of conflict with emerging strategic 
policy if the subsequence evidence does not justify a similar policy approach in the LPU.   
 

 
Comment 14 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW14: 
First Homes 
Exception Sites   

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the proposed policy and approach. 

 
 

Page 28



15 
 

Comment 15 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW15: 
Design Codes   

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the proposed policy and approach, which is supported by locally specific evidence in the 
form of Design Guidelines and Codes. 

 
Comment 16 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW16: 
Buildings of 
Traditional Local 
Character  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the proposed policy and approach. 

 

Page 29



16 
 

Comment 17 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW17: 
Twyford 
Community Hub 
(Old 
Polehampton 
School) 

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the proposed policy and approach. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



17 
 

Comment 18 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW18: 
Community 
Facilities  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☐  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☒ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council broadly supports the proposed policy and approach.  Minor amendments are suggested to criteria 
(B) of the policy wording regarding the evidence that may be required by applicants in order to demonstrate 
that the existing use is not viable.  Suggested amendments would help to bring the policy in line with national 
planning policy and local policy, in particular paragraph 3.85 of the Managing Development Delivery (MDD) 
local plan (2014).     
 
B. In addition to the provisions of relevant Local Plan policies which safeguards community facilities from 
unnecessary loss, proposals to change the establish use of a facility and its their ancillary land must 
demonstrate that the land use is no longer viable suited to any other community use (through the production 
of evidence that genuine and sustained efforts to promote, improve and market the facility at a reasonable 
value have been undertaken) or that the use can be satisfactorily re-located for the benefit of the local 
community.  

 
Comment 19 
To which part of the Neighbourhood Plan does your representation relate? 
 

Whole 
document? 

Yes/No Paragraph 
Number 
 

N/A Policy Reference: Policy TW19: 
Early Years 
Provision  

 
Do you support, support with modifications, oppose, or wish to comment on this policy/paragraph?  (Please tick 
one answer) 
 
Support    ☒  Support with modifications  ☐ Oppose   ☐ Wish to comment    ☐ 
 

Please give details of your reasons for support/opposition, or make other comments in the box below, 
including any specific changes you wish to see to the Plan. Please be as precise as possible. 
 
The council supports the proposed policy and approach. 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	IMD16 WBC Response to Twyford Neighbourhood Plan
	Enc. 1 for WBC response to Twyford draft Neighbourhood Plan consultation


